RECEIVED

Jul 28 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-10-00772
Appellate Case No. 2021-000290

Dag Pavic and Stela Susac-Pavic.....Plaintiffs,
v.

Carolina Cottage Homes, LLC d/b/a Saussy Burbank; SB Holding, LLC d/b/a
Saussy Burbank; Saussy Burbank GC, LLC; American Residential Services,
LLC; Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC; Hurley Services, LLC; Simons
Contractors, LLC and Cohen's Drywall Company, Inc.,.....Defendants,

of which Hurley Services, LLC is theRespondent

AND

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Trial Court erroneously apply South Carolina Code Section 32-2-10 to the parties' contract?
- II. Did the Trial Court mischaracterize the relief sought by Appellant and thus mistakenly apply the clear and unequivocal standard articulated by Concord and Cumberland to the relevant contractual language?
- III. Did the Trial Court err in failing to address the severability provision of the contract?
- IV. Did the Trial Court err in finding, despite a complete lack of evidence, that the parties' contract was one of adhesion?
- V. Did the Trial Court erroneously determine that the doctrine of collateral estoppel bars Appellant's claims for indemnity in the present case?
- VI. Did the Trial Court inappropriately grant summary judgment to Respondents despite the presence of genuine issues of material fact?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This litigation arises out of alleged deficiencies in construction of the Plaintiffs' residence, located at 1368 Penshell Place, Mount Pleasant, South Carolina, which was completed in 2013. By their First Amended Complaint, filed February 28, 2019, Plaintiffs alleged against Appellant "defective/improper installation of windows and related flashing" during original construction. **R. p. 69.** Appellant then filed crossclaims against its subcontractor, Hurley Services, LLC, which was responsible for the window installation. The BFS crossclaims, alleging breach of contract, breach of implied and express warranties, negligence, contractual indemnity, and equitable indemnity, were premised upon Respondent's alleged negligence in the installation of the windows. **R. pp. 91-97.** Appellant later also filed third-party claims against the window manufacturer, MW Manufacturers Inc. **R. pp. 130-136.**

On October 31, 2019, Plaintiffs and Appellant entered into a stipulation by which the Plaintiffs agreed that they "are not asserting or alleging within the instant litigation against any defendant in this litigation (including but not limited to Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC), or against any third party defendant in this litigation, any defect and/or deficiency in the development, design, manufacture, production, sale and/or distribution of the windows installed at the subject residence, (identified herein as MW Series 800 Windows), and/or any component part of such windows, and/or in any MW installation instructions or requirements for those windows installed at the subject residence" **R. p. 261.** Likewise, the stipulation provided that the Plaintiffs were not seeking

recovery against any defendant or third party defendant in connection with such claims.

Based on Plaintiffs' stipulation that they were not alleging any window manufacturing defect, Appellant entered into a separate stipulation with the window manufacturer, MW Manufacturers, Inc., dismissing the manufacturer without prejudice from the litigation. **R. p. 263.** However, Appellant's crossclaims against Respondent remained.

On August 27, 2020, Respondent Hurley Services filed a motion for summary judgment against the crossclaims of Appellant. A hearing was held on the motion for summary judgment on October 1, 2020 before the Hon. Jennifer McCoy. On January 11, 2021, Judge McCoy issued a Form 4 Order granting partial summary judgment and requesting that counsel submit a proposed order. Concerned by the procedural complications of two separate orders, counsel for Appellant submitted correspondence to the Court requesting confirmation "that the Court will issue a subsequent Order comprehensively setting forth the findings of fact and conclusions of law, [. . .] that the issuance of the subsequent Order will serve as the Court's final dispositive Order, and that the date of the dispositive Order will serve as the date for commencement of any post-judgment procedures for the parties." **R. pp. 513-14.** The Court confirmed all of the above. **R. p. 515.** Respondents submitted a proposed order, and on January 22, 2021 Judge McCoy adopted it wholesale (filed January 25, 2021). Appellant timely moved for reconsideration, but by a Form 4 Order dated February 16,

2021, the Court denied Appellant's motion. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on March 18, 2021.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the Trial Court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, which is that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Pittman v. Grand Strand Entm't, Inc., 363 S.C. 531, 611 S.E.2d 922 (2005); B & B Liquors, Inc. v. O'Neil, 361 S.C. 267, 603 S.E.2d 629 (Ct.App.2004). In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Medical Univ. of South Carolina v. Arnaud, 360 S.C. 615, 602 S.E.2d 747 (2004); Rife v. Hitachi Constr. Mach. Co., Ltd., 363 S.C. 209, 609 S.E.2d 565 (Ct.App.2005). Any triable issues must go to the jury. Mulherin-Howell v. Cobb, 362 S.C. 588, 608 S.E.2d 587 (Ct.App.2005).

On an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, "the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below." Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005); see also Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct.App.2003) (stating that all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party). Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is

desirable to clarify the application of the law. Gadson v. Hembree, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005); Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (Ct.App.2004). Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n, 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (Ct.App.2004). However, when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted. Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 595 S.E.2d 817 (Ct.App.2004).

ARGUMENTS

Essential to understanding the issues on appeal is an understanding of the underlying contract that is the source of the claims at issue in this litigation; thus, in accordance with Appellate Rule 208(b)(1)(E), Appellant provides for the Court's benefit this separate statement of facts surrounding the Contract.

Respondent has been a subcontractor of Appellant for some time. The Master Subcontract Agreement ("Contract") that is the subject of this litigation was entered into on May 14, 2012. **R. p. 486.** Upon its expiration, desirous to maintain their working relationship, the parties entered into a substantially similar contract dated December 18, 2014. **R. p. 498.**

There are two sections of this Contract that Respondents now contest. The first is "Section 3. Warranty." In Section 3, the subcontractor warrants and guarantees "the Work," which is a defined term found in Section 1(a) of the Contract. **R. p. 489.** As defined, the "Work" encompasses only the materials that

the subcontractor agrees to provide and/or the services that the subcontractor agrees to perform. **R. p. 486.** Thus, in Section 3, the subcontractor warrants and guarantees only the materials that the subcontractor provides and/or the services that the subcontractor performs. The Warranty provision also provides that the subcontractor will indemnify Appellant for all nonconforming “Work” – which, again, is a defined term, indicating that the indemnification obligation on a demand made pursuant to the Warranty Provision encompasses only the materials and/or services provided by or rendered by the subcontractor.

The second section that Respondent now challenges is “Section 5. Indemnity” Section Five is comprised of four paragraphs, but only three are discussed herein. The first paragraph governs indemnification in cases including those arising out of property damage, such as the underlying action. The second paragraph governs indemnification in cases arising out of bodily injury to the subcontractor (Hurley), its agents, employees, or subcontractors. The third paragraph governs the subcontractor’s separate duty to defend. Each is addressed here in turn.

Paragraph One provides, in relevant part, that Appellant may seek indemnification for losses arising out of, among other things, property damage:

ONLY TO THE EXTENT CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY ANY NEGLIGENT ACT OR OMISSION OF THE SUBCONTRACOR OR ANYONE DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY EMPLOYED BY THE SUBCONTRACTOR OR ANYONE FOR WHOSE ACTS THE SUBCONTRACTOR MAY BE LIABLE.

R. p. 491. This paragraph expressly permits Appellant to recover from Respondent Subcontractor for the negligent acts or omissions of said

subcontractor in cases, such as the one before this Court, arising out of property damage. It bears emphasis that this paragraph is the only paragraph within Section 5 of the Master Subcontract Agreement which specifically provides for indemnification against loss resulting from property damage caused by the neglect or omission of the indemnitor.

Paragraph Two governs the relationship between the parties in cases arising out of claims of bodily injury to the subcontractor, its agents, employees, and/or subcontractors. This case does not arise out of bodily injury, and thus this paragraph is irrelevant and not currently before the Court. Nonetheless, Respondents have taken issue with this paragraph because, in cases involving bodily injury to the subcontractor, its agents, employees, and/or subcontractors, the contract allows Appellant to seek indemnification for losses to the fullest extent allowed by law, "REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH CLAIM, DAMAGE, LOSS OR EXPENSE IS CAUSED, OR IS ALLEGED TO BE CAUSED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, BY THE NEGLIGENCE OF ANY OF THE INDEMNITEES." **R. p. 491**. While, for reasons discussed below, this language may potentially be problematic if this were a case arising out of bodily injury, it does not affect Appellant's right to pursue indemnification pursuant to Paragraph One in a case arising out of property damage.

Paragraph Three of the Indemnity Section governs the subcontractor's duty to defend. Paragraph Three provides that:

THE DUTY TO DEFEND UNDER THIS SECTION 5 IS INDEPENDENT AND SEPARATE FROM THE DUTY TO INDEMNIFY, AND THE DUTY TO DEFEND EXISTS

REGARDLESS OF ANY ULTIMATE LIABILITY OR NEGLIGENCE
OF THE CONTRACTOR.

R. p. 492. Appellant believes that Paragraph Three needs no further explanation, as the terms are abundantly clear and speak for themselves.

There is one final provision in the Contract that neither Respondents nor the Trial Court chose to address (despite Appellant's multiple requests), but that is essential to the outcome of this case: the severability provision. The parties agreed that:

[t]he provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed independent and severable, and the invalidity or partial invalidity of any provision or portion thereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision or portion thereof. It is the intent of the parties that any invalid provision hereof be reformed to the extent necessary to make it enforceable to the maximum extent of the law.

R. p. 497. Thus, the Contract requires that, in the event that any one provision should be found invalid, that provision should be severed and the remaining provisions and rights of the parties should be left intact.

Having provided the Court with this summary of the contractual provisions relevant to this case, Appellant now turns to its legal arguments.

I. The Trial Court Erroneously Applied South Carolina Code Section 32-2-10 to the Parties' Contract.

The Trial Court held that "the indemnity and duty to defend provisions of the master subcontractor agreement violate South Carolina public policy and §32-2-10 S.C. Code." **R. p. 14.** The Trial Court additionally concluded that the contract's Warranty provision violates Section 32-2-10 because it "allows BFS to seek indemnity for its sole negligence in selecting and selling products which are defective or are the subject of class-action litigation." **R. p. 9.** However, the Trial

Court's Order contains neither an analysis of Section 32-2-10 nor any explanation of how these contractual provisions allegedly violate the statute.

S.C. Code Ann. § 32-2-10 provides:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a promise or agreement in connection with the design, planning, construction, alteration, repair or maintenance of a building, structure, highway, road, appurtenance or appliance, including moving, demolition and excavating, purporting to indemnify the promisee, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees against liability for damages arising out of bodily injury or property damage proximately caused by or resulting from the sole negligence of the promisee, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees is against public policy and unenforceable. Nothing contained in this section shall affect a promise or agreement whereby the promisor shall indemnify or hold harmless the promisee or the promisee's independent contractors, agents, employees or indemnitees against liability for damages resulting from the negligence, in whole or in part, of the promisor, its agents or employees.

(Emphasis added). Section 32-2-10, by its specific language, states simply that an agreement to indemnify a party against liability for damages arising out of that party's sole negligence is against public policy, and thus unenforceable. None of the applicable sections of the contract violates this statute.

A. *The Indemnity Provision of the Contract is Specifically Authorized by Section 32-2-10.*

The Trial Court first criticized the indemnity provision as running afoul of South Carolina Code Section 32-2-10. However, the indemnity provision of Section 5 Paragraph One, relied upon by Appellant in support of its claims in the underlying action, does not require Respondent to indemnify Appellant against liability for damages arising out of Appellant's sole negligence. Rather, by limiting indemnification only to damages "TO THE EXTENT CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN

PART BY ANY NEGLIGENT ACT OR OMISSION OF THE SUBCONTRACOR,” Section Five, Paragraph One requires Respondent to indemnify Appellant against liability or damages for *Respondent's* negligence (whether sole or concurrent). This arrangement is the exact type of agreement authorized by the second half of the statute, underlined above. Section 32-2-10 specifically authorizes agreements whereby the promisor shall indemnify or hold harmless the promisee against liability for damages resulting from the negligence, in whole or in part, of the promisor. D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource-Se. Grp., LLC, (422 S.C. 144, 810 S.E.2d 41 (Ct. App. 2018)). The indemnity provision of Section 5 Paragraph One is, therefore, specifically authorized by Section 32-2-10 because by that provision Respondent undertook to indemnify Appellant for Respondent's own negligence (as opposed to Appellant's own negligence). Furthermore, a contractual provision authorized by statute cannot logically be against public policy *Id.* Thus, the indemnity provision does not violate Section 32-2-10 or public policy, and provides no basis for an award of summary judgment in favor of Respondent.

B. The Duty to Defend Provision of the Contract is Neither Addressed nor Prohibited by Section 32-2-10.

The Court's Order also finds that Paragraph Three of the Indemnity Provision violates South Carolina Code Section 32-2-10 because Appellant may seek reimbursement of attorney's fees regardless of any ultimate liability or negligence of Appellant. However, this statute addresses general damages and not recovery of attorneys' fees; thus, the statute does not apply to this portion of the Contract.

The very terms of the statute limit its application to agreements for indemnification against liability for damages. When approaching statutory interpretation, courts must assume that the legislature was aware of the common law, “and where a statute uses a term that has a well-recognized meaning in the law, the presumption is that the General Assembly intended to use the term in that sense.” Grier v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc., 397 S.C. 532, 536, 725 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2012). Additionally, when, as here, a statute is “in derogation of the common law,” it must be strictly construed. Id.

Section 32-2-10 specifically states that it governs agreements for indemnity against liability for damages. As noted by this Court in Concord & Cumberland, our courts “have consistently defined indemnity as ‘that form of compensation in which a first party is liable to pay a second party for loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party.’” Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Property Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 646-47, 819 S.E.2d 166 (Ct. App. 2018). Attorneys’ fees do not fall within the scope of indemnity because they are not paid by a first party to “a second party for loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party.” Rather, they are consequential damages of an indemnity claim. Because Section 32-2-10 must be strictly construed, and because it uses the term “indemnify,” a term that “has a well-recognized meaning in the law,” it must be read only to apply to agreements governing indemnification; its meaning may not be expanded by the Court to include agreements governing attorneys’ fees.

While Section 32-2-10 addresses agreements governing the duty to indemnify, the statute is silent as to agreements imposing a duty to defend. The duty to defend and the duty to indemnify are two separate and distinct contractual obligations. City of Hartsville v. S.C. Mun. Ins. & Risk Fin. Fund, 382 S.C. 535, 544, 677 S.E.2d 574, 578 (2009). “Although these duties are related in the sense that the duty to defend depends on an initial or apparent potential liability to satisfy the judgment, the duty to defend exists regardless of the [indemnitor’s] ultimate liability to the [indemnitee].” Sloan Const. Co. v. Cent. Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha, 269 S.C. 183, 186, 236 S.E.2d 818, 820 (1977).

Finally, even if the Court *were* to determine for some reason that the contractual provision regarding attorneys’ fees violated Section 32-2-10, the Court should sever the offending provision, as discussed below; then, Appellant’s claim for attorneys’ fees would instead be fully encompassed by Paragraph One of the Indemnity Provision. Paragraph One provides that Respondents would indemnify Appellant for all losses, “including, but not limited to . . . attorney’s fees” arising out of claims for property damage, but “ONLY TO THE EXTENT CAUSED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, BY ANY NEGLIGENT ACT OF THE SUBCONTRACTOR” Because recovery under Paragraph One is limited to attorneys’ fees incurred in defending against the negligence of the subcontractor, it is not covered by the alleged prohibition of Section 32-2-10; in fact, it is specifically authorized by the statute, because the statute says that it does not affect or void “a promise or agreement whereby the promisor shall indemnify or hold harmless the promisee . . . against liability for damages resulting from the

negligence, in whole or in part, of the promisor” As noted above, Paragraph One of the Indemnity Provision is the exact type of agreement authorized by the statute.

C. The Warranty Provision of the Contract does not Violate Section 32-2-10.

Finally, the Trial Court held that the contract’s Warranty provision violates Section 32-2-10 because it “allows BFS to seek indemnity for its sole negligence in selecting and selling products which are defective or are the subject of class-action litigation.” **R. p. 9.**

The Trial Court has grossly mischaracterized the Contract’s Warranty provision. The Trial Court quoted excerpts from the Warranty provision, which are reproduced below; the Appellant, however, has added back some of the original contractual language, (which Appellant has underlined), that the Trial Court excluded:

Section 3. Warranty.

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