**RECEIVED**

**Aug 04 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2019-CP-10-00772  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000290

---

Dag Pavic and Stela Susac-Pavic.....Plaintiffs,

v.

Carolina Cottage Homes, LLC d/b/a Saussy Burbank; SB Holding, LLC d/b/a Saussy Burbank; Saussy Burbank GC, LLC; American Residential Services, LLC; Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC; Hurley Services, LLC; Simons Contractors, LLC and Cohen’s Drywall Company, Inc., .....Defendants,

of which Hurley Services, LLC is the .....Respondent

AND

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

There are so many objectionable clauses that run throughout the agreement that it is not possible to sever or reform them. *See* Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 403 S.C. 10, 16, 742 S.E.2d 37, 41 (Ct. App. 2013O) *aff'd* 417 S.C. 42, 790 S.E.2d 1 (2016) (Kittredge & Pleicones, JJ, dissenting). The Court has no obligation or authority to rewrite the contractual indemnity provisions of BFS. Poynter Inves., Inc. v. Cent. Builders of Piedmont, Inc., 387 S.C. 83, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17 (S.C. 2010); Lewis v. Premium Inv. Corp., 351 S.C. 167, 171, 568 S.E.2d 361, 363 (2002).

If an express ruling were required by the trial court on the issue of severability, the failure to make one was a harmless error within the meaning of Rule 61 SCRPC.

#### **IV. THE MASTER SUBCONTRACT AGREEMENT DRAFTED BY BFS IS A CONTRACT OF ADHESION WHICH IS UNCONSCIONABLE AND OPPRESSIVE.**

In South Carolina, unconscionability is defined as the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-side contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them. Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United Healthcare Services, Inc., 361 S.C. 544, 554, 606 S.E.2d 752, 757 (2004).

Absence of a meaningful choice on the part of one party generally speaks to the fundamental fairness of the bargaining process. Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663, 669 (2007) (citation omitted). Among the factors considered by the court in determining whether a contract was tainted by an absence of meaningful choice are the relative disparity in the bargaining power of the party; whether there is an

element of surprise in the inclusion of the challenged language; and the conspicuousness of the language or clause. Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 669.

Hurley was a local subcontractor in the Charleston area which installed products for BFS. BFS is the regional division of Builders FirstSource as appears from its name on the contract. Respondent requests that this Court take judicial cognizance of the fact that BFS is a large supplier of building materials and that its Master Subcontract Agreement is so one-sided, that a subcontractor executing the agreement, more than likely lacks any meaningful bargaining power. *Cf. Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 42, 50, 790 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2016) (Kittredge & Pleicones, JJ, dissenting) quoting Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co., 299 S.C. 335, 384 S.E.2d 730, 735-736 (1989) (taking judicial cognizance of the fact that a modern buyer of new residential housing is normally in an unequal bargaining position as against the seller). The fact that Hurley was paid only \$867.00 for installing all of the windows and exterior doors in this residence reflects a lack of bargaining power. (R. p. 524.)

The contract provisions are also deceptive. Contract provisions result in unfair surprise when the real meaning of the terms are intentionally obscured by one of the parties. The master contract was carefully drafted by BFS in a way which would obligate its subcontractors to warrant the design and suitability of products provided by BFS, and further, for subcontractors to indemnify and defend BFS and others from any property damage or personal injury resulting from those products.

The deceptive nature of the definitional, warranty, guaranty, and indemnity provisions contained in Sections 1, 2, and 3 of the agreement have been discussed in detail

elsewhere in this brief. It should be noted, however, that the indemnity provision in SECTION 3 Warranty was buried in fine print. (R. p. 489.)

In finding contract provisions unconscionable in Simpson, the court observed, in pertinent part, as follows:

“[W]hile certain phrases within other provisions of additional terms and conditions were printed in all capital letters, the arbitration clause in its entirety was written in the standard small print, and embedded in paragraph ten (10) of sixteen (16) ... We cannot, under the circumstances, ignore the inconspicuous nature of a provision, which was drafted by the superior party, and which functioned to contract away certain significant rights and remedies otherwise available to Simpson by law ....”  
Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 670.

In addition, although Hurley provided no materials in connection with the installation of the windows and doors, there is a provision under SECTION 3 Warranty which requires Hurley to give a ten-year warranty on “structural applications.” This warranty exceeds the eight-year time limit in the applicable statute of repose found in S.C. Code §15-3-640 and may jeopardize a significant defense otherwise available to Hurley.

Thus, it is clear that a disparity in bargaining power and the intentional use of deceptive language buried in the fine print of the agreement deprives Hurley of a meaningful choice in the execution of the agreement.

It is equally clear that the Master Subcontract Agreement drafted by BFS is an adhesion contract which is drawn to the fullest extent possible in favor of BFS. BFS has expansive rights and remedies under the agreement it drafted. In contrast, most of the rights and remedies of Hurley are limited or waived. Most paragraphs of the agreement create obligations and liabilities for Hurley or a waiver or limitation of Hurley’s rights.

The agreement drafted by BFS attempts to transfer all risks associated with the project to its subcontractors, including risks associated with the products and components furnished by BFS. The best evidence of this is the fact that BFS has filed multiple crossclaims against Hurley alleging product deficiencies when BFS concedes on page 19 of its brief that Hurley did not provide any materials whatsoever in connection with the construction of the Pavic residence.

Under general principles of state law, an adhesion contract is a standard form contract offered on a “take it or leave it basis” with terms that are non-negotiable. Munoz v. Greentree Financial Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 542 S.E.2d 360 (S.C. 2001). Although adhesion contracts are not per se unconscionable, the cumulative effect of these oppressive and one-sided provisions can cross a line which makes the contract unconscionable. Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 674.

Examples of the oppressive and unconscionable nature of the 2012 Master Subcontract Agreement are as follows:

1. In Section 1(a), limitation of Hurley’s remedies in the event of a change order which increases costs.
2. In Sections 1(a) and 2(c), deceptive language defining the “work.”
3. In Section 2(c), Hurley assumes risk of loss to the work.
4. In Section 2(d)(2)(C), indemnity of BFS in connection with environmental regulations.
5. In Section 2(d)(4), liquidated damages against Hurley for delay at \$200 per hour for a minimum of 10 hour day until project can be resumed.
6. In Section 3, fine print indemnity of BFS for its own products and negligence.

7. In Section 3, unfavorable warranty, guaranty, and indemnity provisions relating to products selected and sold by BFS.
8. In Section 4, waiver of subrogation rights and release of all claims in favor of BFS.
9. In Section 5, indemnification and defense of BFS for its own negligence.
10. In Sections 6 and 7(b)(2), misleading provisions regarding BFS's right to direct and control work.
11. In Section 7(a), numerous events of default by subcontractor without any corresponding events of default on the part of BFS.
12. In Section 7(b)(1), waiver of claims and damages for delay in favor of BFS.
13. In Section 7(b)(2), liability of Hurley to BFS upon termination for all costs and damages of BFS plus 25% of all costs and damages of BFS.
14. In Section 7(c), fine print indemnity, defense, and hold harmless provisions in favor of BFS.
15. In Section 8(a), no obligation of BFS to pay Hurley until BFS receives payment from owner. If owner does not pay BFS, BFS does not pay and Hurley assumes risk of non-payment.
16. In Section 8(f), unreasonable conditions for obtaining final payment, including furnishing "as-built drawings" in Section 8(f)(3).
17. In Section 8(i), indemnification of BFS for liens and judgments including judgments arising from materials supplied by BFS.
18. In Section 8(i), waiver of rights against BFS.
19. In Section 9(e), Hurley waives the right to file a lien for its work.

This Court is well aware that sophistication is another form of bargaining power. *See* Smith v. Horton at 417 S.C. 49, 790 S.E.2d 4. The high degree of sophistication of BFS is obvious in the language of the aforementioned provisions of the 2012 contract. BFS

has taken advantage of any asymmetry in sophistication to include provisions that are either concealed in fine print or that its subcontractors are unlikely to fully appreciate.

The 2014 agreement executed by Hurley is even more oppressive than the 2012 version because of the addition in fine print of Section 10 (f):

**“f. Release.** Subcontractor hereby waives, releases, and forever discharges the Contractor, the Owner, and all of their officers, directors, agents, and employees from all costs, expenses, claims, demands, damages, losses, causes of action, or liabilities that Subcontractor may have against the Contractor, the Owner, and all of their officers, directors, agents, and employees. Specifically, Subcontractor agrees that Subcontractor shall not file, or cause to be filed, any demand, claim, suit or cause of action against Contractor and all of its officers, directors, agents, and employees hereunder.”  
(R. p. 510.)

It is simply inconceivable that a party who understood the implications of the language of these agreements would sign them unless there were a total absence of a meaningful choice on the part of the subcontractor. The combination of an absence of a meaningful choice on the part of Hurley, deceptive language, disparity in bargaining power, and one-sided provisions in the adhesion contract drafted by BFS renders the warranty/indemnification provisions in Section 3 and the indemnity/duty to defend paragraphs in Section 5 unconscionable and unenforceable. South Carolina courts will not enforce a contract which is violative of public policy or statutory law. Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United Healthcare Services, Inc., 361 S.C. 544, 606 S.E.2d 752 (2004); D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource-SE Grp., LLC, 422 S.C. 144, 810 S.E.2d 41 (Ct. App. 2018).

**V. THE CONTRACTUAL INDEMNITY CLAIMS OF BFS ARE BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL**

The Circuit Court took judicial notice of two Circuit Court orders which have interpreted BFS's contractual indemnity language. See order of the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. filed April 29, 2020, in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas in the case of Six Fifty-Six Owners' Associations, Inc. v. Windsor South, LLC, 2016-CP-10-3455 and the amended order of the Honorable Clifton Newman filed February 3, 2020 in the Court of Common Pleas for Berkeley County in the case of Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC v. M.I. Windows & Doors, Inc., et al. as Civil Action No. 2018-CP-08-2547. (R. pp. 30-34) (R. pp. 19-29).

Significantly, the Honorable Clifton Newman found the same version of the BFS Master Agreement which is in issue in this case to be unenforceable as a matter of law because the indemnification clauses are not clear and unequivocal and they violate South Carolina Rules of Contract Constitution.

The Honorable Roger Young also ruled that Judge Newman's amended Order constitutes a prior final judgment that determined that the contractual indemnity provisions in BFS's master agreement was unenforceable as a matter of law. BFS has appealed both orders.

To invoke collateral estoppel, a party need not have also been a party to the prior action; the law only requires that the party against whom estoppel is applied have been a party to that action and had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior action.

South Carolina Property & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 304 S.C. 210, 213, 403 S.E.2d 625, 627 (1991).

BFS argues that the issues in this case and in the prior cases are not the same. It contends that these orders of Judge Newman and Judge Young are distinguishable because the issue in those cases was whether the indemnity language was sufficiently clear and unequivocal to permit BFS to recover for its own negligence. It asserts that in this case, it is only seeking a recovery for the negligence of its subcontractor which is a separate issue.

BFS is clearly asserting claims for its own negligence in this case which have been addressed in other sections of this brief. However, it is worth noting that BFS concedes on page 19 of its brief that Hurley provided no materials in the construction of the Pavic residence. Yet, BFS has filed multiple crossclaims against Hurley alleging material deficiencies in Hurley's work. These allegations can only refer to the windows provided by BFS to Hurley for installation. These windows are the subject of a class-action suit and settlement. These windows were selected and sold by BFS at a time when BFS knew or should have known that there were significant issues with the windows.

In its brief, BFS does not take issue with the fact that the same contractual indemnity provisions in this case were considered by the courts in issuing their orders. However, it takes the position that BFS will not have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues decided by Judges Newman and Young until the resolution of any appeals and entry of final judgment. In other words, BFS is contending that these orders are not final judgments for purposes of the application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

The appeals from these orders do not undermine their status as final judgments; the law is well settled that the pendency of an appeal has no effect on the finality or binding effect of a trial court's judgment, and thus, will not be a barrier to applying collateral estoppel. *See Huron Holding Corp. v. Lincoln Mine Operating Co.*, 312 U.S. 183, 189, 61 S.Ct. 513, 515, 85 L.Ed. 725 (1941). (Finding finality of a court's judgment is not lost because appeal is pending until and unless reversed.)

The contractual indemnity terms drafted by BFS have been litigated and directly determined in prior actions, and collateral estoppel should apply. A final judgment is one that finally determines the rights of the parties. *First Union Nat'l Bank v. Hitman, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 327, 330, 411 S.E.2d 681, 683 (Ct. App. 1991), *aff'd* 308 S.C. 421, 418 S.E.2d 545 (1992). Moreover, Rule 201(a) SCACR provides that an: "appeal may be taken, as provided by law, from any final judgment or appealable order." BFS could not have appealed these orders unless they were final orders.

**VI. PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY GRANTED WHERE NONE OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL INVOLVE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT.**

In its brief, the only issues of fact which are raised by Appellant relate to alleged deficiencies in the installation of the windows provided by BFS. These issues will be resolved in connection with the equitable indemnity claim of BFS which is pending in the lower court.

Other than installation issues, Appellant fails to identify any issues on appeal which should not be decided as a matter of law. The relationship of the parties is not in dispute. The language of relevant pleadings are not in dispute. The fact that Hurley furnished no

materials is not in dispute. The fact that BFS filed multiple crossclaims against Hurley in connection with materials is not in dispute. The fact that BFS alone supplied materials is not in dispute. The fact that windows supplied by BFS are subject to a class-action suit and settlement is not in dispute. The language of the contract is not in dispute. Indeed, in its memorandum in opposition to Hurley's motion for partial summary judgment, BFS states: "The BFS Master Subcontract Agreement is not ambiguous, does not contain conflicting provisions, and is not unconscionable." (R. p. 344.)

The application of S.C. Code §32-2-10 is a matter of law. Whether the clear and unequivocal standard applies, and if so, whether it bars the claims of BFS is a matter of law. Whether the relationship of the parties, the language of the contract, and the conduct of Appellant combine to render the contract unconscionable and unenforceable is a matter of law. Whether the lower court correctly ruled by implication that contractual indemnity provisions cannot be severed, and if not, whether the failure to issue an express ruling was harmless error, is a matter of law for the court. Whether the lower court properly applied the doctrine of collateral estoppel is a matter of law.

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